

Abbots Ripton Church of England Primary School

# Personal, Social, Health & Citizenship Education Policy

Written by: Claire Matthews (with guidance from the Local Authority's PSHE Service)

Date: September 2018

Review date: September 2021

#### **Contents**

Section 1 Context including National and Local Policy and Legislation

Section 2 Introduction to PSHE and Citizenship (PSHCE)

Our shared beliefs about PSHCE

Aims of PSHCE

Defining PSHCE

#### Section 3 Implementing the PSHCE Policy

School Aims and Values

Policy Aims

**Related Policies** 

Inclusion / Equality and Diversity

Curriculum Organisation

Methodology

Resources

Confidentiality

Assessment, recording and reporting

#### Section 4 Involving the whole school and wider community

Working with staff

The role of governors

Working with parents/carers

Involving the children

Use of visits and visitors

#### Section 5 Monitoring, review and evaluation

The process for development and review

#### Section 6 Appendices

National and local context

Curriculum Overview

Personal Development Entitlement Frameworks

# Section 1 Context including National and Local Policy and Legislation

This policy supports a whole school approach to PSHE and Citizenship (PSHCE) in the curriculum, and throughout the life of the school and its community. It is consistent with current legislative frameworks and non statutory guidance.

#### Duty to Promote Wellbeing

The Education and Inspections Act 2006 places a requirement on schools to promote pupils' wellbeing (as defined in the Children Act 2004 – see Appendix 1) as well as their academic achievement. We are committed to promoting the health and wellbeing of children and of the whole school community, and fully recognise the important cyclical relationship between wellbeing and learning.

#### National Curriculum

The National Curriculum states that all schools must provide a curriculum that is broadly based, balanced and meets the needs of all pupils. It must also:

- '- promote the spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and physical development of pupils at the school and of society, and
- prepare pupils at the school for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later life.'

The National Curriculum Framework (2013) and the non-statutory guidance for PSHE Education (2013) state specifically that schools should make provision for PSHE within their school curriculum. We recognise that PSHE makes an essential contribution to the requirements of the National Curriculum.

#### Ofsted

Our PSHCE programme makes an essential contribution to the Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural (SMSC) development of the children in our school, and also to their personal development, behaviour and welfare. The recent Ofsted report into PSHE in schools (see Appendix 1) highlights the link between effective PSHE and overall findings in Ofsted reports.

#### **SEAL**

We are committed to promoting and developing the Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning through the curriculum and beyond. This is supported by the national SEAL programme and materials (originally part of the Behaviour and Attendance strand of the National Strategies). These are embedded into the Primary Personal Development Programme.

# Section 2 Introduction to PSHE and Citizenship (PSHCE)

#### Our shared beliefs about PSHCE

Our approach to PSHCE consists of a comprehensive and developmental programme of teaching and learning, which is delivered in the context of a 'healthy school' where the health and wellbeing of children and of the whole school community are actively promoted. Our PSHCE Programme has a positive influence

on the ethos, learning and relationships throughout the school. It links closely to our vision to 'learn for life' as it helps children to develop the knowledge, understanding, skills and attitudes they need to live confident, healthy, independent lives now and in the future, as individuals, parents, workers and members of society. It is embedded within the wider learning offered by the school to ensure that children experience positive relationships with adults and with each other and feel valued, and that those who are most vulnerable are identified and supported. Children are encouraged to take part in a wide range of activities and experiences across and beyond the curriculum, contributing fully to the life of our school and community.

#### Aims of PSHCE

'The overarching aim for PSHE education is to provide pupils with:

- a. accurate and relevant knowledge
- b. opportunities to turn that knowledge into personal understanding
- c. opportunities to explore, clarify and if necessary challenge, their own and others' values, attitudes, beliefs, rights and responsibilities
- d. the skills and strategies they need in order to live healthy, safe, fulfilling, responsible and balanced lives.'

PSHE Association July 2013

# **Defining PSHCE**

'PSHE and Citizenship help to give pupils the knowledge, skills and understanding they need to lead confident, healthy, independent lives and to become informed, active, responsible citizens'.

(National Curriculum 2000).

The PSHE Subject Association has published a Programme of Study which builds on the National Curriculum (2000). It includes the following definition:

'Personal, social, health and economic (PSHE) education is a planned, developmental programme of learning through which children and young people acquire the knowledge, understanding and skills they need to manage their lives now and in the future.

As part of a whole-school approach, PSHE education develops the qualities and attributes pupils need to thrive as individuals, family members and members of society.'

PSHE Association July 2013

Our PSHE and Citizenship programme (which is covered through the taught curriculum and our wider provision) includes teaching and learning within the following strands and themes:

**Myself and My Relationships** - including Emotional Wellbeing, Beginning and Belonging, Anti-bullying, Family and Friends and Managing Change.

**Healthy and Safer Lifestyles** – including Personal Safety, Drug Education, Sex and Relationships Education, Healthy Lifestyles and Safety Contexts (including Road Safety).

**Citizenship** – including Diversity and Communities, Rights, Rules and Responsibilities and Working Together

**Economic Wellbeing** – including Financial Capability.

# Section 3 Implementing the PSHCE Policy in our school

# Aims of the policy

The aim of our PSHE and Citizenship Policy is to ensure quality and consistency in our approach to all aspects of PSHCE in our school. This includes our whole school approach to promoting health and wellbeing, as well as the curriculum.

The policy aims to:

- explain the central role PSHCE plays in the life of the school and in children's learning, within the context of national and local guidance
- provide guidance to members of staff in all roles about their responsibilities in relation to PSHCE
- ensure a consistent approach to planning and delivering PSHCE
- ensure that children receive an entitlement curriculum with progression and a high quality experience of teaching and learning
- ensure that staff have the knowledge, understanding and skills to deliver the PSHCE curriculum
- promote partnership work with parent/carers to support children's learning and development in PSHCE, health and wellbeing
- support children's involvement in reviewing and developing work related to PSHCE
- enable the assessment of children's learning in line with local and national guidance
- provide guidance about the criteria for selecting and using high quality resources
- provide guidance to help ensure the quality of methodology and approaches to teaching and learning in PSHCE
- support the school in monitoring, reviewing and developing practice.

# Related policies

This policy acts as an overarching policy for theme specific guidance in the following areas: Anti-bullying, RSE and Drug Education.

It is also linked to and is delivered in the context of the following policies: Behaviour, Safeguarding and Child Protection, Spiritual, moral, social and cultural development, SEND, Equality and Diversity and Health and Safety.

# Inclusion/Equality and Diversity

We promote the needs and interests of all pupils, inclusive of gender, culture, ability or aptitude. Our approaches to teaching and learning take into account the ability, age, readiness and cultural backgrounds of the children to ensure that all can access the full PSHE and Citizenship provision.

In relation to those with special educational needs, we will review our PSHCE programme to ensure that provision is made for those with additional needs. When working with children with additional needs we consider:

• their level of vulnerability

- the need to involve all staff and carers in policy development, planning and training
- the need for a range of approaches to teaching and learning to ensure they are genuinely inclusive
- sources of support for pupils.

In relation to ethnicity, religion and cultural diversity, we value the different backgrounds of our children and, in acknowledging and exploring different views and beliefs, seek to promote respect and understanding.

In order to ensure the PSHCE curriculum meets the needs of all:

- We encourage respect and discourage abuse and exploitation.
- We do not ask young people to represent the views of a particular religious or cultural group to their peers, unless they choose to do so.

We promote social learning and expect our students to show a high regard for the needs of others. PSHE and Citizenship are important vehicles for addressing both multicultural and gender issues and for ensuring equal opportunities for all.

We support children in developing their knowledge about and attitudes towards diversity throughout the Personal Development Programme. This is addressed specifically in units including 'Diversity and Communities', 'Family and Friends', and 'Beginning and Belonging'.

#### Curriculum Organisation

Children receive their entitlement for learning in PSHCE (as set out in the Personal Development frameworks in Appendix 2) through a spiral curriculum which demonstrates progression. This PSHCE programme is delivered through a variety of opportunities, including:

- designated PSHCE time
- subjects across the curriculum, e.g. science, English, RE
- enrichment weeks/days, e.g. Anti-bullying week
- visitors, e.g. Coram Life Education Bus, paramedics
- small group work, e.g. social skills groups. Such as Lego therapy

#### Methodology

In order to address the need to teach knowledge and skills and develop attitudes, a wide range of methodology is used in teaching the PSHCE curriculum. The focus is on interactive learning, and approaches include: Circle Time, whole class discussion, social skills games and activities, working in pairs/groups, brainstorming, drama and role play, use of story and picture books and use of technology. Many of these approaches also act as distancing techniques, enabling children to discuss issues without discussing personal experience. Further guidance on these and other approaches is provided in the Teaching Guidance documents within the Primary Personal Development Programme.

#### **Ground Rules**

PSHCE is taught in a safe, non-judgemental environment where adults and children are confident that they will be respected. Teachers and children together develop and establish ground rules in place, which ensure that every child feels safe and is able to learn in a supportive and caring environment. These cover, in particular, the

asking and answering of personal questions and strategies for checking or accessing information.

#### **Answering Questions**

We acknowledge that sensitive and potentially difficult issues may arise in PSHCE, as children will naturally share information and ask questions. When spontaneous discussion arises, it is guided in a way that reflects our values and curriculum content for PSHCE. As a first principle, we answer questions relating to the taught, planned curriculum for that age group (or younger) to the whole class. We answer questions relating to areas beyond the taught, planned curriculum for that age group, in a sensitive and age appropriate way, only to the child or children who have asked the question. If a member of staff is uncertain about the answer to a question, or indeed whether they should answer it, they will seek guidance from the Headteacher. Questions may be referred to parents/carers if it is not appropriate to answer them in school. We may use a 'Question box', where questions may be asked anonymously.

When answering questions, we ensure that sharing personal information by adults, pupils or their families is discouraged. Where a question or comment from a pupil in the classroom indicates the possibility of abuse or risk of harm, teachers will pass this information to the designated person for safeguarding and child protection, in line with school policy and procedures.

Further information about how we will answer questions about aspects of PSHCE such as RSE and Drug Education can be found in the guidance documents within the Personal Development Programme.

#### Resources

We use the Cambridgeshire Primary Personal Development Programme and the resources recommended within it when planning and delivering PSHCE. We will avoid a 'resource-led' approach to delivering PSHCE, instead focusing on the needs of the children and our planned learning objectives.

When PSHCE related resources are being used within other subject areas (for example books about the human body in science), the same criteria are applied. This also applies to electronic resources, such as the use of websites and presentations found on the internet.

We use children's books, both fiction and non fiction, within our PSHCE lessons. The same selection criteria apply, and teachers will always read and assess the books before using them to ensure they are appropriate for the planned work. They will also consider the needs and circumstances of individual children in the class when reading texts, in case they need to have a preparatory conversation with a child before the teaching takes place.

# Confidentiality

The nature of PSHCE means that children may disclose personal information that staff will respond to appropriately. Where there is a genuine risk to the safety of the child, information must be passed on to the Designated Safeguarding Lead and/or organisations responsible for protecting the child. We will follow the procedures outlined in other policies such as Safeguarding and Child Protection, Behaviour and Health and Safety.

Any information disclosed to a staff member or other responsible adult, which causes concern about the child's safety, will be communicated to the designated person as soon as possible and always within 24 hours, in line with our Safeguarding and Child Protection policy.

If visitors are working in a classroom or other teaching situation, they will follow the school's policies/guidance on confidentiality and on safeguarding, and other relevant school policies.

# Assessment, recording and reporting

We assess children's learning in PSHCE in line with approaches used in the rest of the curriculum. Children's learning is planned using learning objectives which are explained to the children. Teachers draw on their observation of children's learning and children's self assessment to arrive at their overall assessments.

We use the assessment tools provided in the Cambridgeshire Primary Personal Development Programme. Teacher assessment is used to provide an overview of the child's learning within a unit of work, and to assess whether the child is working at the expected level, working towards or working beyond it. Each unit also includes tools for children's self assessment, and children are supported to participate in this process appropriately for their age and ability if appropriate.

We report to parents/carers at the end of the school year on children's learning within PSHCE.

# Section 4 Involving the whole school and wider community

# Working with staff

Support and training will be made available to all staff as appropriate. This includes allocating time at staff meetings to introduce new areas of work and to review the effectiveness of the approaches used. Whole staff Inset is used where there are development needs for the whole staff. Individual staff members are offered training opportunities through the County PSHE service course booklet.

# The role of governors

When aspects of PSHCE appear in whole school development planning, a governor will be assigned to reflect on, monitor and review the work as appropriate.

# Working with parents and carers

We recognise the key role that parents and carers fulfil in supporting their children through their personal development and the emotional and physical aspects of growing up. Therefore we seek to work in partnership with parents and carers when planning and delivering PSHCE. We encourage this partnership by:

- informing parents and carers of forthcoming PSHCE topics through the termly curriculum bulletins and the PSHCE tab on the curriculum page of the school website.
- inviting parents/carers to learn more about resources and activities used in PSHCE at planned events, such as RSE information meetings.
- providing supportive information about parents'/carers' role in PSHCE and how they can develop protective factors with their children e.g. through leaflets written specifically for parents.
- inviting parents/carers to discuss their views and concerns about PSHCE on an informal basis.
- Parents and carers will be given access to this policy on the school website.

#### Involving the children

We recognise that an interactive approach to PSHCE will better develop the skills of our children, and also that, if they are involved in shaping the programme, it is more likely to meet their needs. We involve young people in the evaluation and development of their PSHCE in ways appropriate to their age.

- We engage the children in activities to establish their development needs, for example 'Draw and Write' activities.
- We encourage children to ask questions as they arise by providing anonymous question boxes and other similar approaches.
- We ask children to reflect on their learning
- Through assessment, in particular self assessment, we will learn more from the children about the effectiveness of the teaching and learning and its impact.

#### Use of visits and visitors

Where appropriate we use visits and visitors from outside agencies or members of the community to support the PSHCE programme. This is an enrichment of our programme and not a substitute for our core provision which is based upon the strong relationships between teachers and pupils.

When visitors are used to support the PSHCE programme, the 'Working with school visitors in PSHCE' is used to support the planning process.

Residential visits can make a significant contribution to children's personal development. When planning such visits, we use opportunities to promote children's learning in relevant areas of the PSHCE curriculum (for example, relationship skills, group work skills, communication skills, healthy lifestyles, managing risk, safety).

Our partnership with the local community is a priority, and we recognise and value its contribution to the PSHCE programme. This reflects our approach to active Citizenship.

We include a range of opportunities for community involvement and activities, such as:

- close links with the church (e.g. harvest festival)
- charity fundraising (e.g. links with the local homeless shelter, supporting events such as Comic Relief and Children in Need)
- school performances in church and at outside events (e.g. singing to the elderly)
- invitation lunches (e.g. for the local care home)
- links with local services (e.g. visits from local paramedics)
- community use of school premises (e.g. the Village Open Gardens).

# Section 5 Monitoring, Review and Evaluation

The process for development and review

We are committed to the ongoing development of PSHCE in our school. We will use the following indicators to monitor and evaluate our progress:

- a co-ordinated and consistent approach to curriculum delivery has been adopted
- a flexible approach to delivering PSHCE that responds to children's needs

- children are receiving an entitlement curriculum for PSHCE in line with national and local guidance
- there are clearly identified learning objectives for all PSHCE units and children's learning is assessed regularly
- opportunities for cross-curricular approaches are being used where appropriate
- policy and practice is revised regularly and involves staff, governors and, where appropriate, children
- opportunities are provided for parents, carers and members of our community to consider the purpose and nature of our PSHCE, for example, through parent/carer information sessions

# **Section 6 Appendices**

Appendix 1: National and local context (including policy and legislation)

# Duty to promote wellbeing

Wellbeing is defined in the Children Act 2004 as 'the promotion of physical and mental health; emotional wellbeing; social and economic well being; education, training and recreation; recognition of the contribution made by children to society; and protection from harm and neglect'. The Education and Inspections Act 2006 places a requirement on schools to promote pupils' wellbeing as well as their academic achievement.

Children Act 2004

Education and Inspections Act 2006

# The 2010 Education White Paper

This makes clear the importance of effective PSHE in schools:

'Children can benefit enormously from high-quality Personal, Social, Health and Economic (PSHE) education. Good PSHE supports individual young people to make safe and informed choices. It can help tackle public health issues such as substance misuse and support young people with the financial decisions they must make.'

The importance of teaching, Schools White Paper, Department for Education, updated 2012.

#### DfE Research report

This report highlights the link between wellbeing, behaviour and social and emotional development and learning and achievement:

Children with higher levels of emotional, behavioural, social and school well-being on average have higher levels of academic achievement and are more engaged in school, both concurrently and in later years.

The impact of pupil behaviour and wellbeing on educational outcomes, Department for Education, 2012.

#### National Curriculum

All schools must provide a curriculum that is broadly based, balanced and meets the needs of all pupils. Under section 78 of the Education Act 2002 and the Academies Act 2010 such a curriculum:

- promotes the spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and physical development of pupils at the school and of society, and
- prepares pupils at the school for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later life.

This has been reiterated in the National Curriculum Framework published by the DfE in September 2013, which also states:

'All schools should make provision for personal, social, health and economic education (PSHE), drawing on good practice'.

# Department for Education Guidance on PSHE education

The DfE guidance on PSHE education (September 2013) states that the subject remains non-statutory and that no new programmes of study will be published. However, the following statement is included:

'PSHE is an important and necessary part of all pupils' education. All schools should teach PSHE, drawing on good practice, and this expectation is outlined in the introduction to the new National Curriculum.

Schools should seek to use PSHE education to build, where appropriate, on the statutory content already outlined in the National Curriculum, the basic school curriculum and in statutory guidance on: drug education, financial education, sex and relationship education (SRE) and the importance of physical activity and diet for a healthy lifestyle.'

Guidance Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education, DfE, September 2013

#### Ofsted

The Common Inspection Framework: education, skills and early years and the School Inspection Handbook (June 2015) take effect in September 2015. These extracts explain aspects of the documents which relate to PSHCE.

#### Overall effectiveness

Inspectors will evaluate the effectiveness and impact of the provision for pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development. Further detail of what is required under these headings can be found in the above Ofsted documents.

#### Effectiveness of leadership and management

Inspectors will evaluate the extent to which leaders, managers and governors:

- actively promote equality and diversity, tackle bullying and discrimination and narrow any gaps in achievement between different groups of children and learners
- actively promote British values
- make sure that safeguarding arrangements to protect children, young people and learners meet all statutory and other government requirements, promote their welfare and prevent radicalisation and extremism.

#### Personal development, behaviour and welfare

Inspectors will evaluate the extent to which the provision is successfully promoting and supporting children's and other learners':

- pride in achievement and commitment to learning, supported by a positive culture across the whole provider
- self-confidence, self-awareness and understanding of how to be a successful learner
- following of any guidelines for behaviour and conduct, including management of their own feelings and behaviour, and how they relate to others
- understanding of how to keep themselves safe from relevant risks such as abuse, sexual exploitation and extremism, including when using the internet and social media
- knowledge of how to keep themselves healthy, both emotionally and physically, including through exercising and healthy eating

 personal development, so that they are well prepared to respect others and contribute to wider society and life in Britain.

In the recent Ofsted report into PSHE education in schools, the relationship between the quality of PSHE provision and the grading of schools for overall effectiveness is highlighted:

The contribution that effective PSHE education can make to good behaviour and safety and to pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development is evident throughout this report. It is interesting to note that there is a close correlation between the grades that the schools in the survey were awarded for overall effectiveness in their last section 5 inspection, and their grade for PSHE education.

Not yet good enough: PSHE education in schools, Ofsted May 2013

#### Mandatory Timeline for schools

In January 2014, the Department for Education updated its timeline of mandatory information for schools. Alongside existing guidelines on information schools must publish on their website (as outlined in Schedule 4 of the School Information (England) Regulations 2012) there is now a requirement for schools to publish details of their PSHE education curriculum. Additionally, the Department continues to require all schools to publish their sex and relationships education policy.

#### Appendix 2: Curriculum overview

See Framework Overviews for Foundation, KS1, KS2 Yr3-4 and KS2 Yr5-6 available on the PSHCE section of the school website.